FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
4/21/2021 4:44 PM

99698-9

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/22/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 81045-6-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

٧.

DONALD BANGO, Petitioner

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF PIERCE COUNTY THE HONORABLE JUDGE JOHN HICKMAN

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410 PO Box 829 Graham, WA 253-445-7920

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION

Petitioner Donald Bango, the appellant below, asks the Court to review the decision of Division I of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section II below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Donald Bango seeks review of the Court of Appeals unpublished opinion in *State v. Bango*, 2021 WL 1091506 entered on March 22, 2021. The decision is attached in Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. This criminal case involves the prosecution's use of a peremptory challenge to strike the only African-American Asian American Pacific Islander juror from the venire.
- 1. Did the trial court err in granting the State's peremptory challenge of Juror 26?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals incorrectly apply the standard set out by this Court in *State v. Jefferson*, 192 Wn.2d 225, 429 P.3d 467 (2018)?
- B. Washington law holds that words alone do not constitute sufficient provocation to warrant giving a first aggressor instruction where the defendant has claimed self-defense.

- 1. Did the trial court err when it gave a first aggressor instruction where the provocation was only words?
- C. Has the time come for this Court to reconsider whether criminal interrogations must be recorded to be admissible at a trial?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In December 2015, Donald Bango arranged with a middleman, Wikstrom, to buy drugs from Jeffrey Shaw. 6/1/17 RP 81. As they waited in a parking lot Bango showed his 12-gauge pump shotgun. 6/1/17 RP 84,93; RP 1327.

When Shaw arrived Wikstrom asked for the money to pay for the drugs. Bango wanted Shaw to come to his vehicle. RP 1323,1352, 1338-39. Shaw wanted Bango to come to him. RP 1342, 43. Wikstrom reportedly saw Bango put on black gloves. RP 1344.

Angry at the back and forth, Wikstrom returned to Shaw's car and reportedly said Bango had guns, no money, and he would rob them. 6/1/17 RP 122; RP 1174, 1345,1347-48. Shaw drove away. Bango called, and they agreed to meet at a 7-11; a public place that was lighted. RP 1347-49; Exh. 370; CP 177.

When Shaw, Wikstrom and the driver arrived at the 7-11,

Bango approached the passenger side to talk with Shaw. He put

his cell phone on the car roof and said he was not trying to do "anything funny." RP 1141, 1217, 1354. Bango retrieved a scale from his car for Shaw to weigh the quarter ounce of heroin. RP 1012, 1217; Exh.118. Bango handed 294 dollars to Shaw. CP 179, 197, Exh. 370. Shaw told Bango he had a .40 caliber gun. RP 1348-49.

Bango saw the gun, and described it as a 1911 Para

Ordinance, stainless and black, with writing toward the front of the barrel. CP 179; Exh. 370. Police later recovered a gun from Shaw's car. RP 2433.

After a short conversation, Bango became concerned they would steal his money and drive away. CP 180; Exh.370. He saw Shaw reach for his gun. Exh. 370; CP 197. Bango opened his jacket, pulled out a lanyard with a JRA¹ badge and said he was a police officer. RP 1358. He told Shaw to get out of the car. RP 1358; CP 197; Exh. 370.

As Bango saw Shaw grab his gun, he heard him tell the driver to leave. RP 1359; Exh. 370. Wikstrom and the driver testified they saw Bango reach inside of his coat and immediately

_

¹ Juvenile Rehabilitation Agency RP 1897.

ducked. RP 1023, 1359. Neither of them saw what Shaw was doing. RP 1485. Bango believed he heard and saw Shaw pull the trigger of his gun. CP 180. Bango stepped back and fired his gun twice. CP 181; Exh. 370. Shaw's car sped away. Exh. 370; CP 182.

Wikstrom later confided to Bango's wife he thought Bango was startled by the sound of the automatic shift being put in reverse. RP 1401-02. He said the gear shift made a loud popping sound; however, at trial, he changed his story and said he had been speculating. RP 1404. He also told Bango's wife that Bango truly believed he was in danger². RP 1403.

The driver proceeded to the hospital. He grabbed Shaw's black and silver gun and hid it under the seat. He took Shaw's 340 dollars. RP 1023-1024, 1049, 1114. Wikstrom grabbed Shaw's heroin and left. RP 1030, 1052, 1231, 1233. Shaw died. RP 1074.

Interrogation

After his arrest, Bango was transported for interrogation. He signed a *Miranda* notice. RP 112. The interrogation was not recorded for the first 15 minutes. Instead, one officer took

4

² At trial Wikstrom said his statement to Bango's wife was completely fabricated because he just wanted information from her. RP 1402. He made his sworn statement that the loud popping noise startled Bango "just to say it." RP 1404.

handwritten notes while the other spoke with Bango. The note taker destroyed her notes and wrote only a summary report about three and a half weeks later. RP 165, 167.

Somewhere in the 15 minutes, Mr. Bango invoked his right to counsel. RP 114-115. The officers testified that within one minute he changed his mind. The officer then used his personal tape recorder. RP 117; Exh. 370. Neither officer could explain what happened between the time Bango invoked his right to counsel and when he agreed to talk with officers again, or for the four minutes before the recording began. RP 141-42, 144, 157. The officer agreed that he usually said the interrogation was over, the individual was under arrest and he was going to jail. RP 142.

Mr. Bango's experience was markedly different from that of the officer. Bango said he was taken to the interrogation room, advised of his rights, and invoked his right to counsel. RP 187, 190. He said he never told anyone that he did not need an attorney. RP 193. The officer told him he had all the information and wanted Bango's side of the story. RP 190. Bango repeated he needed a lawyer. The officer responded that a SWAT team was already searching his hotel room and the same team would execute a search warrant on his home for drugs and guns. RP 191-92. The

officer said if the items were found, it would have implications for his family and his children could be taken from their mother. RP 191. Bango felt threatened that SWAT would go to his home and was coerced into waiving his right to counsel. RP 192, 194, 213.

The officer admitted that even if he could not have gotten a search warrant, there is "a certain amount of bluffing that goes on" when interrogating a suspect. RP 225-26. He denied saying he would get a search warrant for the Bango home. RP 223.

The trial court held there was no record of the conversation between the officers and Bango about the alleged threat, and Bango did not make a record on tape of the remarks of his unwillingness to talk without counsel. RP 417. With redactions, the interrogation was admitted as evidence. Exh. 370.

Voir Dire and Peremptory Challenge

Juror 26 was the only African American in a potential seated jury. CP 551, RP 810. She identified as African American and Asian American, Pacific Islander.(AAPI). RP 380. She earned her Ph.D. in multicultural ethnicity. She worked as an educator and trainer for educators and the Washington State Department of Personnel, to facilitate understanding others who are multiracial and multicultural. RP 579-582. Her Ph.D. advisor encouraged her to create a word to

describe what it was like to be from more than one cultural frame of reference, and she created the neologism "Multicentric". RP 579.

The prosecutor noted she had a "unique world view" and "you probably see things a little differently than that kid that grew up in Bellevue." RP 581.

Juror 26's sister had been murdered approximately 40 years earlier. The juror believed the outcome of the trial had been fair.

She said she could "absolutely" decide the current case on the facts and evidence. RP 576-77.

The State asked her had she ever called the police and she described an incident in 1991 when someone called her the "N-word." The operator asked if she was offended, and the juror was so surprised she hung up. RP 578.

The State supplied its reasons for exercising a peremptory challenge for Juror No. 26: (1) there were two other people of color on the panel³; (2) The Juror's sibling had been murdered and it was not a good case for her; (3) the State worried the Juror would be forgiving of Mr. Bango's perception of danger; and (4) the Juror's field of study meant she may not see the rules of the court as

³ The two people of color did not identify as African-American. RP 818.

applying to her: "She is going to interpret Mr. Bango's perception how she wants, as opposed to what the evidence is going to show." RP 801-807.

Defense counsel objected, arguing the peremptory challenge was being exercised in a discriminatory fashion: "And so, to come forward with we don't believe that she's going to follow the law and we don't like her perspective on the world because it doesn't match ours is exactly what Batson is all about." RP 807-808.

The court analyzed the challenge under *Rhone*. *State v. Rhone*, 168 Wn.2d 645, 229 P.3d 752 (2010) .RP 817. The court noted (1) there were other minorities on the jury of either Asian or Filipino descent. RP 818; (2) there was no history of dismissing jurors on a *Batson* challenge on a regular and consistent basis and neither party targeted Juror 26. RP 818, 820;(3) the State simply did not "agree with her world view of things, and their concern about sympathy or prejudice that she may have towards a defendant, whether black, white or any minority or race." RP 820.

_

⁴ The State did not challenge Juror 50, who had a bad experience with police, and though he believed he could be impartial, he did not think anyone would want him on a jury. RP 659. Juror 63 was excused by agreement after he discussed the murder of his nephew 3 years earlier, and which still upset him. RP 684.

Days after the jury found Mr. Bango guilty, the Court issued its opinion in *City of Seattle v. Erickson*, 188 Wn.2d 721, 398 P.3d 1124 (2017). In response to *Erickson*, the defense requested a new trial. CP 484-486. At that hearing, the State boiled its argument down for the court: "We're prosecuting a homicide case. I need her to follow the absolute norms of society when it comes to following the law." 10/15/18 RP 95.

The court issued a written decision finding (1) no prima facie case of racial discrimination (2) the State did not conduct a fishing expedition based on racial motivation or unconscious bias in its extensive questioning of Juror 26; (3) there was not a pattern of eliminating all people of color or ethnic minorities by the State; and (4) the state articulated sufficient race-neutral reasons for excusing the juror. CP; 550-553.

Over defense objection, the court gave a first aggressor instruction, and did not include the admonition that words alone are insufficient provocation. The State's theory for the instruction was that a jury could conclude that pulling the JRA badge resulted in the car being put in reverse, Shaw grabbing for the gun, and the defendant shooting. Or that the defendant started this whole

process by pulling the badge and instigated a robbery, and Shaw pulled a gun to defend himself. RP 2601.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Court Incorrectly Applied *Jefferson*Unfairly Excluding Potential Qualified And Unbiased Jurors.

Based on race or ethnicity violates equal protection. *Powers* v. Ohio, 499 U.S. 400, 409, 111 S.Ct. 1364, 113 L.Ed.2d 411 (1991). Juries must reflect society. *State v. Pierce*,195 Wn.2d 230, 243, 455 P.3d 647 (2020).

In *Erickson*, this Court held that prima facie showing of discrimination is automatically made if a party strikes the only member of a cognizable racial group from the jury. *Erickson*, 188 Wn.2d at 734. The following year, this Court held that the question for courts in conducting a *Batson* analysis, is whether an objective observer could view race or ethnicity as a factor in using the peremptory challenge. If so, then the peremptory strike must be denied. *Jefferson*, 192 Wn.2d at 249.

This Court has held that when the sole member of a racially cognizable group has been struck from the jury it is evidence of a discriminatory purpose. *See Erickson*, 188 Wn.2d at 734. Here,

Juror No. 26 was the only African American, juror with any possibility of being on the jury panel.

Two of the reasons for striking Juror 26 are not supported by the record. Juror 26 was clear she could absolutely follow the law as given by the court. She was equally clear that she believed justice had been done when her sister's assailant had been brought to justice 40 years earlier. Even if she had not felt justice was done, under *State v. Listoe*, 15 Wn. App. 2d 308, 475 P.3d 534 (2020), parties may no longer rely on expressions of distrust of law enforcement or statements about having a close relationship with people involved in a crime. *Id.* at 323.

The State also argued there were two other people of color on the jury⁵. Under *Jefferson*, the issue is not whether there were other people of color on the jury, the issue is whether Juror 26 was improperly excused based on race or ethnicity.

The State expressed its concern that Juror 26 was not raised like someone from Bellevue, and that her experience and education in multicentrism would make her more sympathetic to the

⁵ This was a reference to the individuals of Filipino or Asian descent.

defendant: that she would not follow the norms of society. These justifications are presumptively invalid. *Pierce*, 195 Wn.2d 230.

These reasons reflect a differential treatment of someone based on ethnicity. Ethnicity is the state of belonging to a social group that shares a common cultural or national tradition. It looks to the traits that are shared with the identified cultural/social construct. Here, an objective observer could view race or ethnicity as a factor in the use of the peremptory challenge.

This matter warrants review by this Court because the opinion by the Court of Appeals conflicts with the holdings of this Court in *Erickson, Jefferson and Pierce*. and the appellate court's ruling in *Listoe*. Further, unfairly excluding potential jurors based on race or ethnicity violates the constitutionally guaranteed equal protection of the law. RAP 13.4 (b)(1),(2),(3).

B. The State Was Relieved Of Its Burden To Prove Bango Did Not Act In Self Defense When The Court Gave A First Aggressor Instruction.

An error affecting a self-defense claim is constitutional and cannot be deemed harmless unless it is deemed harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. McCullum*, 98 Wn.2d 484, 497, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983).

A first aggressor instruction directs the jury to determine whether a defendant's acts precipitated a confrontation with the victim. *State v. Riley*,137 Wn.2d 904, 909-10, 976 P.2d 644 (1999). *Kee* held "when there is evidence that the defendant provoked an altercation with words, particularly when the State suggests that those words constitute first aggression, WPIC 16.04 is inadequate to convey the law established in *Riley.*" *State v. Kee*, 6 Wn. App. 2d 874, 882, 431 P.3d 1080 (2018). The defendant must have taken some intentional act that could reasonably be likely to provoke a belligerent response. *See State v. Anderson*, 144 Wn. App. 85, 89, 180 P.3d 885 (2008). Where words alone constitute the asserted provocation, it is error to give a first aggressor instruction. *Riley*, 137 Wn.2d at 910-11

Under the State's theory, Bango's intentional act was the display of his JRA badge and his command to Shaw to get out of the car. RP 2600.

The Court of Appeals here acknowledged the use of words alone are insufficient to warrant a first aggressor instruction. *Slip Op.*at *9. However, the Court wrongly concluded that the State's theory that Bango was preparing to rob Shaw, despite him never

demanding gun, money, or drugs warranted not giving the "words alone" instruction.

The court's holding conflicts with the holding in *Kee* and *Riley* and warrants review by this Court. The prejudicial error of the first aggressor instruction and failure to provide the instruction that words alone are insufficient require reversal of the convictions.

State v. Townsend, 142 Wn.2d 838, 848, 145 P.3d 145 (2001).

C. The Time Is Ripe For This Court To Consider A Rule Requiring Interrogations To Be Recorded.

Custodial questioning by its nature is coercive and law enforcement officers must advise a suspect of his rights before questioning, and then scrupulously honor his assertion of those rights. *Miranda v. Arizona,* 384 U.S. 436, 467, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966).

Here, the State cannot account for the first 15 minutes of the unrecorded interrogation. At 8:39 pm Bango was taken into an interrogation room equipped with audio and visual recording. The officers did not record using either the official AV system or the officer's tape recorder. RP 2442. Both officers reported he invoked his right to counsel at 8:49 pm and then waived his right at 8:50 pm. Neither officer remembered what was said before or after he

invoked. And neither could explain why he so suddenly changed his mind. RP 2449. There is no record of what happened during the unrecorded 15 minutes. At trial the State agreed that if Bango's recitation of events was accurate, any statements should have been suppressed. RP 246.

Wisconsin, Minnesota, Indiana, Utah and Alaska have either recognized a state constitutional due process right that a custodial statement must be electronically recorded to be admissible, or exercised supervisory authority through an evidence rule, requiring a recording for admissibility. *Stephan v. State*, 711 P.2d 1156, 54 USLW 2355 (1985); Utah Rule of Evidence 616 (2016); Indiana Rule of Evidence 617 (2011); *State v. Scales*,518 N.W.2d 587 (Minn. 1994); *In re Jerrell C.J.*, 283 Wis.2d 145, 699 N.W.2d 110 (2005) (requires all juvenile custodial interrogations be electronically recorded).

In 2014, the federal DOJ created a presumption that its investigatory agencies, FBI, DEA, ATF, and US Marshalls Services agents would electronically record custodial interviews. (See Appendix B).

Historically, lower appellate courts in Washington have found no state constitutional due process right requiring interrogations to

be recorded to be admissible. *State v. Turner*, 145 Wn. App. 899, 187 P.3d 835 (2008); *State v. Spurgeon*, 63 Wn. App. 503, 820 P.2dd 960 (1991). To date, this Court has declined to exercise supervisory authority and adopt a ruling excluding evidence from interrogations not electronically recorded.

With the capability of law enforcement officers to wear body cameras for evidence gathering, surveillance, police accountability, and a way to counter wrongful claims of police misconduct, the time to convene and consider an evidence rule requiring electronic recording of interrogations has arrived.

Beginning in 2009, Washington jurisdictions implemented the use of body cameras for law enforcement officers⁶. In 2016, RCW 10.109.900 mandated the legislature to convene a task force to study and make recommendations regarding all aspects of body worn cameras by law enforcement officers. RCW 10.109.030; RCW 10.109.900(9). Research has found the electronic recording policies have resulted in not only a reduction in police use of force, but improved behavior among both officers and citizens, and

⁶ Chapman, Brett, National Institute of Justice, NIJ Journal No. 280 (December 2018).

served as a way to substantiate or dismiss claims of police misconduct⁷.

The Courts should not place a burden on the trial judge to fill in the blanks where a Fifth Amendment right is at stake. Here, the incomplete record is troublesome. The trial judge overlooked the glaring omission of the interrogation before the recording started and found the officer's account credible. The result is a perpetuation of incidents where defendants testify to one thing and law enforcement testifies to the opposite; the defendant who was potentially coerced or intimidated into waiving his rights cannot substantiate his experience because police did not make a recording. It is unjust for a court to determine lack of credibility of a defendant when the circumstances of interrogation are entirely within the State's control.

Mr. Bango respectfully asks the Court to review this issue as it is a matter of substantial public interest and affects the constitutional rights of individuals who are interrogated by law enforcement. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

⁷ ld.

VI. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts and authorities, Mr. Bango respectfully asks this Court to accept review of his petition.

Submitted this 21st day of April 2021.

Marie Trombley

Marie Trombley WSBA 41410 PO Box 829 Graham, WA 98338