FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/21/2021 10:36 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 99698-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DONALD BANGO,

Petitioner.

Petition for Review

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Prosecuting Attorney

Teresa Chen Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 31762 930 Tacoma Ave., Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-7400

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Defendant's misrepresentation of the prosecutor's reasons for exercising a peremptory strike does not reveal a conflict with any published opinions.

The Defendant argues that the court of appeals did not apply the law correctly in analyzing the *Batson* challenge.

A *Batson* challenge involves three steps. First, the challenger must establish a prima facie case that "gives rise to an inference of discriminatory purpose." *State v. Jefferson*, 192 Wn.2d 225, 231–32, 429 P.3d 467, 471 (2018). When a party strikes the last member of a racially cognizable group, the trial court *must* recognize a prima facie case of discriminatory purpose. *City of Seattle v. Erickson*, 188 Wn.2d 721, 734, 398 P.3d 1124, 1131 (2017).

The court only moves to the next *Batson* steps "if a prima facie case is made." *Erickson*, 188 Wn.2d at 727. In the instant case, the court did not find a prima facie case of discrimination had been established. CP 551. The prosecutor did not have a history in this case or any other which would suggest a pattern of discriminatory intent. RP 817-19. No peremptory strikes had been exercised against minorities. And Juror 26 was not the only Black juror remaining in the venire. CP 551; RP 810-11, 814.

The Defendant argues that Juror 26 was the only Black juror who could make it into the first 12.⁴ Petition at 10-11. This is immaterial. The presumption established in *Erickson* is a "bright-line" rule. *Erickson*, 188 Wn.2d at 734. That line is not drawn at the first 12 jurors. "We hold that the trial court must recognize a prima facie case of discriminatory purpose when the sole member of a racially cognizable group has been struck from the jury." *Id*.

In the Defendant's issue statement, he characterizes Juror 26 as "the only African-American Asian American Pacific Islander juror from the venire." Petition at 1. This allegation is not supported by any record. The record is that there were several Black jurors and several Asian jurors. There was no inquiry into the number of jurors of mixed heritage.

Under the second step, the burden would shift to the party exercising the peremptory strike to come forward with a race-neutral explanation for strike. *Jefferson*, 192 Wn.2d at 231–32. And in the third step, the trial court would consider whether "an objective observer could view race or ethnicity as a factor in the use of the peremptory challenge." *Jefferson*, 192 Wn.2d at 249.

-

⁴ N.B. She was not the only Black juror who could make it into the first 14, however, and 14 jurors would be chosen to allow for alternates. RP 810.

The Defendant misrepresents the prosecutor's reasons. The prosecutor explained that he struck Juror 26, because her sister had been murdered and this was a murder trial. And he explained that the juror's expression of sensory relativism made her less than ideal in a self-defense case where the Defendant's statement was inconsistent with the physical evidence. Bango claimed that Shaw had pointed a gun and pulled the trigger twice. Of course, this did not happen. No other witness had observed Shaw remove his gun from his waistband, which is where it was recovered. RP 1027. Bango described Shaw's weapon as an unloaded or misfiring 1911 style Para Ordnance, stainless and black with visible hammer and dovetail. CP 179-80. But in fact Shaw's gun was a fully operable .40 caliber Smith & Wesson Kahr pistol with no visible hammer and with an unspent cartridge in the chamber. RP 2121, 2680. The Kahr does not have the dovetail design. It showed no signs of any misfire. RP 1905, 1949-52, 2131-34, 2685. This juror might excuse the Defendant's lie as just one of "many ways to look at something." RP 581, 11. 20-21.

Based on these proferred reasons, an objective observer could not view race or ethnicity as a factor in the exercise of the peremptory challenge. Unpub. Op. at 18-19.

... defense counsel used a peremptory strike against Juror 12, whose relative had been convicted of felony murder, even though Juror 12 stated that he believed he could separate that incident from the current situation. Despite the different roles occupied by the prospective jurors' relatives, both the prosecutor and defense counsel could reasonably have concluded that a family member's prior involvement in a murder could consciously or unconsciously affect a juror's ability to be objective in a murder trial.

Although the questioning regarding the nature of Juror 26's work was unique among the potential jurors, this discrepancy is unsurprising given that she created her own field of study. The State argued that her scholarship suggested that she might be more forgiving of alternate perceptions than the average person. This was an especially important consideration because Bango claimed he acted in self-defense, which made his perception of the incident pivotal. The singular nature of her field set her apart regardless of race, and the State's justifications carried none of the historical hallmarks of improper discrimination. See, e.g., GR 37(h), (i).10 An objective observer would not view race as a factor in the strike.

Unpub. Op. at 18-19.

The Defendant argues that the prosecutor must have been insinuating that the juror had a distrust of law enforcement and would not follow the law. Petition at 11. These are not the prosecutor's reasons, and they are not fair inferences from those reasons.

The Defendant alleges that the prosecutor "expressed concern" that the juror had not grown up in Bellevue and had a unique world view. Petition at 11. The allegation is shockingly lacking in candor. This was information which the juror volunteered and which the prosecutor simply paraphrased back to her during her voir dire. RP 580-81. The trial court's

perspective was that the juror had a strong, volunteered point of view which commanded respect and that the attorneys had been very deferential to her.

... we got into an extensive dialogue by both defense and the State in regards to her unique job and her unique perspective and outlook on the world. And I think all of us found it very intriguing. She presented herself as a very intelligent, thoughtful woman, and one of not just African-American descent but so many different cultures she had running through her blood that it was an inspiration for her to make a life's work out of the different cultural influences that people have and how it is perceived by society.

And as indicated by both sides, she came up with her own definition of that word and has really developed a philosophy regarding that that she teaches to other individuals in the education system, et cetera.

And both sides were very deferential to her. She wasn't targeted by any side because of her beliefs other than to just find out more about them since they were somewhat -- not somewhat -- they were unique and not what you typically hear in a voir dire situation.

RP 816-17. But the prosecutor *did not* offer the juror's broad cultural background as a reason for the exercise of the peremptory strike, and he *did not* express "concern" about it. This is pure invention.

The Defendant does not demonstrate a conflict with any case by misrepresenting the prosecutor's reasons.

B. The record does not support the Defendant's claim that the act supporting the first aggressor instruction was merely the display of a badge.

The Defendant misleads the court, claiming that his first aggressive act was mere speech. Petition at 13. This is not the record. The aggressive act which precipitated the alleged display of Shaw's weapon was a

continuing course of conduct to rob culminating in the Defendant's display of a gun, not a badge. Because the Defendant misrepresents the record, he also misrepresents a conflict of laws. Petition at 14 (referencing *State v. Riley*, 137 Wn.2d 904, 909-10, 976 P.2d 644 (1999) and *State v. Kee*, 6 Wn. App. 2d 874, 882, 431 P.3d 1080 (2018)).

A first aggressor instruction is appropriate where there is some credible evidence that the defendant provoked the need to act in self-defense. *State v. Riley*, 137 Wn.2d 904, 909-10, 976 P.2d 624 (1999); *State v. Sullivan*, 196 Wn. App. 277, 289, 383 P.3d 574 (2016), *rev. denied* 187 Wn.2d 1023 (2017). The evidence is reviewed in the light most favorable to the party requesting the instruction – in this case, the prosecution. *Sullivan*, 196 Wn. App. at 289.

The evidence was that the Defendant was associated with Lopez, who had just robbed Shaw of heroin and cash. The Defendant was desperate, suffering from withdrawal. CP 177 ("didn't want to be hurting and sick"). He had shown up with guns and no money, pulled on tactical gloves, parked as if primed to make a sudden escape. He demanded to bypass the middle man, which would expose Shaw while he was holding both product and cash. Shaw demanded they meet in a public place and warned the Defendant not to try to rob him.

When they met a second time that night, despite how poorly this meeting was going, the Defendant made more demands – intent on entering Neil's vehicle. Shaw did not allow it. Having lost his opportunity to rob Shaw in a dark neighborhood, denied his opportunity to rob Shaw in the cover of Neil's vehicle, the Defendant had one more ploy: to strong-arm Shaw with a pretense of authority.

When the Defendant drew his badge, Shaw screamed for Neil to drive. RP 1022, 1206. Neil hesitated. The Defendant pulled a handgun from his coat. RP 1206-07. Wikstrom yelled, "he's pulling his gun." *Id.* It was this information which caused Neil to back up. RP 1022-23, 1207. In other words, Neil did not begin to back up until after the Defendant displayed his own weapon.

The Defendant claimed that he shot Shaw immediately after or "as soon as" he saw Shaw pulling the trigger of his own weapon twice. CP 181. We know from the video that the Defendant chased after the fleeing vehicle and shot Shaw well *after* the vehicle had backed up. Exh. 118. Therefore, his claim is that Shaw drew a gun *only after* the Defendant first displayed his gun. *The Defendant was the first person to draw a gun.* The Defendant shot Mr. Shaw through the heart as the three men were fleeing him for the second time that night. Exh. 118; RP (6/8/17) 44, 49-50.

Both *Kee* and *Riley* hold that words are not enough to justify a first aggressor instruction. *Riley*,137 Wn.2d at 911-12; *Kee*, 6 Wn. App. 2d at 880-81. *Kee* additionally holds that where a reasonable juror might have believed that the first aggressive act was mere words, the jury should be instructed that words are not enough. *Kee*, 6 Wn. App. 2d at 882. The court of appeals' opinion does not disagree with either holding. Rather, this case does not present evidence of words alone, and the State never suggested it did. Unpub. Op. at 23. The State presented evidence of a continuing course of conduct of robbery throughout the night, followed by the Defendant's display of his gun. There is no RAP 13.4(b) consideration which would permit review.

C. Recently passed SHB 1223 addresses the recording of custodial interrogations; the bill, rather than a court case, is the proper path for addressing this topic.

The Defendant argues that the lack of a recording for the few minutes of his interview, an absence that resulted from his own refusal to be recorded, is "troublesome." Petition at 17. The Defendant invites this Court to adopt a court rule which would automatically exclude all evidence from an interrogation which was not fully electronically recorded. Petition at 16. This Court must decline the invitation.

This Court has repeatedly denied the request for such a rule. *State* v. *Turner*, 118 Wn.2d 1024, 827 P.2d 1393 (1992); *State v. Spurgeon*, 165

Wn.2d 1016, 199 P.3d 411 (2009). First of all, a case is not the proper place for such rule making.

[T]he proper path to change the Rules of Appellate Procedure is through the normal rule making process, not through overruling precedent to accommodate the change. "Foisting the rule upon courts and parties by judicial fiat could lead to unforeseen consequences." *In re Pers. Restraint of Carlstad*, 150 Wash.2d 583, 592 n.4, 80 P.3d 587 (2003).

Matter of Det. of McHatton, No. 98904-4, 2021 WL 1681323, at *4 (Wash. Apr. 29, 2021). Drafting quality rules requires a body of objective and qualified rule-making experts.

Secondly, when the Court reviewed proposed rule CrR 3.7 quite recently, it met with wide rebuke. In 2018, WACDL circumvented the Criminal Law Section and the Rules Committee to propose a rule which would have required audiovisual recording of all "custodial and non-custodial interrogations of persons under investigation for any crime." The Washington Supreme Court received 176 comments (some with multiple signators). A minority (68 individuals) favored the rule. The WAPA Executive Director observed that the extension of protections beyond those in constitutions "are policy questions best left to the legislature" which "possesses mechanisms for gathering public input such as hearings and committees that this court lacks." The trial judges who commented agreed and criticized the attack on their discretion. The proposed rule would have

conflicted with SSB 5714 which admits testimony subject to a cautioning instruction, properly leaving the question to the factfinder. Laws of 2019, ch. 359 (SSB 5714) (enacting Chapter 10.56 RCW). The proposed rule also conflicts with Chapter 9.73 RCW which respects a person's right not to be recorded. In this case, the recording did not begin until the Defendant consented, consistent with our privacy laws. RCW 9.73.080 (criminalizing recording without consent). Many commenters noted that a court rule would come with no funding to purchase, store, and maintain equipment and data. In the instant case, the detective made an audio recording rather than a video recording, because the Tacoma Police Department's audiovisual system, Case Cracker, is undependable. RP 127-28, 175.

After reviewing the comments, this Court ultimately rejected WACDL's proposed rule in 2018. The question was picked up and decided by the appropriate branch.

A few days ago, on May 18, the Governor signed SHB 1223. The law will take effect January 1, 2022. Section 3 of the bill will require interrogations of juveniles or related to felonies to be recorded in their entirety. The bill allows for various exceptions including the defendant's refusal to be recorded, and it amends the Privacy Act.

There is no substantial public interest in addressing by opinion what can be addressed by rule making and has been addressed by law making.

V. CONCLUSION

The Petition must be denied where it presents no RAP 13.4(b) consideration.